I. INTRODUCTION 

Appellant Total Outdoor Corporation brings this appeal under the 

Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA"), RCW 36.70C. The primary issue on 

appeal is whether Total Outdoor can continue to use a legal non­

conforming rooftop sign on the Centennial Building in downtown Seattle 

(the "Sign") at its vested size. Total Outdoor is an outdoor advertising 

company that now operates the Sign. 

The City determined that the rights to use the Sign at its vested size 

were partially (but not entirely) abandoned in 1981 based on a permit 

seeking to use additional electrical circuits to light new advertising copy 

on the existing Sign structure. That determination is at odds with the 

principle that a legal conforming use is a vested right, not easily voided. It 

is also flawed because the burden of establishing abandonment is on the 

City, which failed to meet that burden. Moreover, the City's 

determination conflicted with its own decision that the property owner had 

not abandoned its vested right to use the property for off-premises 

advertising. The City compounded its legal errors by concluding that 

repairs performed in 2012 increased the Sign's size, but did not base this 

determination on any measurements it took of the pieces that were 

replaced. In fact, DPD chose not to review the old pieces when invited to 

do so. Finally, DPD determined that the Sign's wattage must be reduced 
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to 816 watts, even though the Sign at the time its non-conforming 

attributes vested, had been illuminated at a much higher wattage level. 

Total Outdoor challenged DPD's decisions under LUPA, and the 

Superior Court denied Total Outdoor's LUPA petitions. Because neither 

the record nor the law supports DPD's determinations, the Court should 

reverse. 

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Superior Court erred in denying Total Outdoor's LUPA 

petitions. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Three issues are presented. The first two relate to the Sign's size, 

and the third relates to the Sign's illumination: 

1. Whether DPD has carried its "heavy burden" of establishing that 

any of the nonconforming rights associated with the Sign have 

been abandoned, where the property owner has disavowed any 

intent to abandon any of the property rights that were vested when 

the Sign became nonconforming in October 1975, and the City has 

conceded that the right to use the Sign for an off-premises 

advertising use has not been abandoned. 

2. Whether substantial evidence supports DPD's determination that 

Total Outdoor's repairs increased the size ofthe Sign's structure 
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where the only evidence in the record shows that the repairs did 

not increase the size of the Sign structure and where DPD refused 

to inspect other available evidence. 

3. Whether the Seattle Municipal Code's limitation on new lights 

applies to the Sign where the Sign has always been used as an 

illuminated sign with wattage greater than the current wattage, and 

the City Code allows this nonconformity to continue. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Defmitions 

This appeal involves the interpretation of various terms defined by 

local ordinances, which are compiled here for the Court: 

• Sign: "[A ]ny medium, including structural and component parts, 
which is used or intended to be used to attract attention to the 
subject matter for advertising, identification or informative 
purposes." SMC 23.84A.036; see also Seattle Building Code 
("SBC") 3107.3. In this brief, Total Outdoor uses the term "Sign" 
to refer to and include all of the Sign's parts, including the Sign's 
structure, which includes a base. 

• Sign Structure: "Any structure which supports or is designed to 
support any sign." SBC 3107.3. 

• "Advertising copy" or "copy": synonymous with "message on ... 
[a] sign[]". SBC 3107.4.2. 

• Nonconforming Use: "[A] use ofland or a structure that was 
lawful when established and that does not now conform to the use 
regulations of the zone in which it is located." SMC 23.84A.040. 

• Structure Nonconforming to Development Standards: "[A] 
structure, sight or development that met applicable development 
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standards at the time it was built or established, but that does not 
now conform to one or more of the applicable development 
standards. Development standards includes, but are not limited to 
height, ... lighting, maximum size of nonresidential uses .... " 
SMC 23.84A.026. 

B. The Sign's First 55 Years: 1926-1981. 

In June 1925, the City of Seattle issued a permit to construct the 

Centennial Building on the comer of 4th Avenue and Stewart, in 

downtown Seattle. R 00003. 1 Seven months later, the City issued another 

permit-this time, to erect an illuminated rooftop sign atop the Centennial 

Building. R 00004-5. In the nearly 90 years since the Sign was built, it 

has featured advertising copy on the same structure that exists today. That 

Sign structure includes a base that is approximately 4.5 feet high and is 

made up of horizontal metal beams and concrete pedestals. On top of the 

base, there is a steel lattice. See, e.g., R 00759. 

For decades, the copy on the Sign advertised the Great Northern 

Railway, and its successor Burlington Northern Railroad. See R 00575-77 

(photographs ofthe Great Northern Railway copy from 1927 and 1928); 

R 00579-80 (photographs from 1937 and 1939); R 00581 (photograph 

from 1962). As of 1941, the Sign was 55 feet by 68.5 feet. R 00008 

(1941 permit with dimensions). 

I Citations to the record are indicated by "R" followed by the page number, using the 
page numbers of the documentary record as transmitted to the superior court. 

-4-

76930-0007/LEGAL29149897.1 



j ....... -

Historical Photograph of Sign with Great Northern Copy. R 00575. 
Dimensions from 1941 permit superimposed onto image. 

For purposes ofthis case, the date October 24, 1975 is crucial. On 

that date, a new City ordinance took effect, prohibiting advertising signs 

on rooftops in the downtown zone where the Sign was located. R 00125; 

00134; 00136. From that point forward, the Sign became a legal non-

conforming use and a structure non-conforming to development standards. 

On the date the zoning became effective and the Sign became 

nonconforming, the Sign was displaying the Burlington Northern Railroad 

copy, which measured 55 feet high (above the base or parapet) by 68.5 

feet wide. R 00558; 00562. 
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In late November 1975, new advertising copy was placed on the 

Sign, changing the Sign's copy from an illuminated advertisement for 

Burlington Northern to an illuminated advertisement for Alaska Airlines. 

R00562. The Alaska Airlines advertising copy required additional 

electrical circuits for lighting, and the City issued one permit to install two 

new electrical circuits (1,650 watts each) for the proposed Alaska Airlines 

copy and a supplemental permit so that "8 additional [circuits]" (1,650 

watts each) could be installed to illuminate the Alaska Airlines copy. 

R 00012-14. In total, these two electrical permits granted an additional 

16,500 watts to illuminate the Sign's copy. In installing the Alaska 

Airlines advertising copy, the Sign structure was altered to reduce the 

height to 30 feet from the roof parapet "to make it conforming to 

exist[ing] sign code." R 00012; see also R 00097 (contemporary 

ordinance SMC 1 02929( 15)(b), limiting sign height to 30 feet above the 

nearest parapet). The Alaska Airlines copy hung on this structure 

measured 26 feet by 60 feet. ROOOI2. 

In December 1975, the City received a letter from a citizen 

questioning the legality of the Sign after the copy changed to advertise 

Alaska Airlines. R 00562-63. The City responded by explaining that the 

new zoning ordinance "prohibits the installation of new advertising signs" 

but "does not cause the removal of existing advertising signs." R 00020 
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(emphasis in original). The City went on to say that the Sign was "a legal 

non-conforming advertising sign and can remain at its present location 

under the existing ordinances." Id. The City specifically noted that 

"[ c ]hanging of the advertising copy is also permitted." !d. 

C. The Sign's Copy Changes to Advertise for "Cameras West": 
1981-2011. 

In 1981, the Sign's copy changed again-this time to display a 

neon illuminated advertisement for Cameras West, featuring the 

company's name and logo. The Cameras West copy did not alter the 

Sign's structure or base, but as with the Alaska Airlines copy, a permit 

was needed to install additional electrical circuits. In October 1981 , the 

City issued a permit for five additional 1,650 watt circuits to illuminate the 

company's logo and the letter-shaped neon lights reading "CAMERAS 

WEST." R 00024-25 ("1981 lighting permit"). 

A hand-drawn sketch on the 1981 lighting permit noted that the 

letter-shaped neon lights would be five feet tall , and the length of the 

copy, including the logo running alongside the lettering, would be 54.5 

feet long. R 00024. The sketch did not show the base of the Sign 

structure; it only outlined the proposed copy that needed illumination. See 

id. But the 1981 lighting permit stated that the Cameras West copy would 

be "[m]ounted on [the] existing structure above [the] existing message 
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center." R 00024 (emphasis added). Installing the Cameras West copy 

did not alter the Sign's structure, which remained the same size. See 

R 00751 (photograph of Cameras West copy on same structure). 

Sign with Cameras West Copy Before Repairs. R 00751. 
Measurements superimposed onto image. 

D. 20ll-Present. 

1. Cameras West Copy Is Taken Down, and the Sign's 
Rusted Support Beams Are Repaired. 

In November 2011, Westlake Park Associates, the long-term lessee 

of the Centennial Building, with rights to maintain advertising on the Sign, 

informed the City's Department of Planning and Development that 

"Cameras West no longer wishes to use the sign." R 00597. After 

pointing out that "[t]he sign on the roof of the Centennial Building has 

been used for off premise advertising since 1926," Westlake Park 

Associates informed the City that the lessee "now plans to utilize the sign 

for other advertising copy, beginning with a message intended to draw 
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shoppers downtown for the holidays." !d. Later that month, Total 

Outdoor (an outdoor advertising company) took down the Cameras West 

copy and installed new copy on the preexisting sign structure, with a 

holiday message from the Downtown Seattle Association. R 207-10. 

A few weeks later, on December 6,2011, Total Outdoor fonnally 

requested that DPD issue a sign registration number for the Sign, in a 

letter providing back-up for Total Outdoor's position, R 00211-69, 

pursuant to SMC 23.55.014.2 The City did not respond until February 

2012, when it declined Total Outdoor's request. R 00300-03. 

After replacing the copy, Total Outdoor noticed that the Sign 

needed significant repairs. As Total Outdoor infonned DPD, the 

"elements, members, and connections of the [Sign] structure" had badly 

"deteriorated due to corrosion," after nearly 90 years atop the Centennial 

Building," R 00602. The structure's upper lattice (above the base) had 

corroded, and needed to be replaced in order to ensure the Sign's safety 

and stability. Id. But because "the main horizontal foundation beams and 

girder [i. e., the base] did not show signs of corrosion that would warrant 

maintenance," they could be "left as-is with additional bracing elements to 

2 SMC 23.55.014(F) requires the owner of an off-premise advertising sign to file a 
written report identifying the number and location of advertising signs maintained by the 
owner at any time during the previous year, and pay a fee . Upon submission of the report 
and fee, SMC 23 .55.014(F) provides that "DPD shall assign a registration number to each 
sign face." 
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provide additional stability and safety." ld. See also R 00757 (showing 

corroded support beam); 00767 (same); 00769 (same). 

Total Outdoor contracted with KLN Media LLC to conduct these 

repairs. R 00602-06. Because the maintenance consisted of "piece for 

piece" repairs of the Sign structure, the size of the structure did not 

change. See R 602-05 (schematics for the repair work). The base 

remained 4.5 foot high from the rooftop, and the Sign structure (beginning 

at the 4.5 foot mark) remained 30 feet high by 60 feet wide. See R 00602 

(displaying pre-existing sign structure with blank face for future copy). 

Maintenance Schematic With Proposed Copy. R 00602. 
Measurement of base superimposed onto image. 
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Rusted Support Beams Needing Replacement. R 00757. 

2. Apple Copy Is Placed on Sign After Repairs. 

After the repairs, Total Outdoor placed new copy on the Sign, 

advertising the "iPad 2" for Apple. R 00765. The Apple copy measures 

20 feet high by 60 feet wide and begins 10 feet above the base-making 

the top of the copy approximately 34.5 feet above the rooftop (4.5 foot 

high preexisting base + 30 foot preexisting structure = 34.5 feet from the 

rooftop). See R 00607 (roof sign maintenance plan with measurements); 

00765 (photo). While larger than the Cameras West copy, the Apple copy 

is smaller than the Burlington Northern copy that had hung on the sign 

structure in 1975 when it first became a nonconforming use and 

nonconforming to development standards. 
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Apple Copy on Same Structure, Base Visible in Foreground. R 00765. 
Measurements superimposed onto image. 

The City issued a Stop Work Order asserting that Total Outdoor 

was required to obtain a permit for the repair work on the Sign. R 00284. 

The Stop Work Order was based on a single observation by DPD's Senior 

Electrical Inspector, Bob Hoyos, who believed that "[t]he new sign 

structure appeared to be larger, wider, and taller than the original sign 

structure and the sign face." R 00313. From that street-level observation, 

DPD determined that the "existing roof sign structure has been completely 

demolished and a new sign structure erected," id., even though the repairs 

did not affect the base. Total Outdoor appealed this decision to Municipal 

Court, which has jurisdiction over code enforcement matters. That appeal 

has been stayed. 

DPD also denied Total Outdoor's December 2011 request for a 

registration number, and claimed that the Sign could not be used for off-

-12-

76930-0007/LEGAL29149897.1 



premises advertising. R 00300-03. In that denial letter, DPD asserted that 

the 1981 lighting permit, which allowed the installation of additional 

electrical circuits to illuminate the Cameras West copy, had functioned to 

permanently change the Sign's use from an off-premises sign to an on­

premises sign. R 00302. 

While the City acknowledged that any abandonment of a 

nonconforming right requires evidence of intent and an overt action by the 

property owner, DPD reasoned that the "1981 permit . . . is the required 

evidence of intent and overt action on the part of the property [owner] to 

convert to an on-premises sign use." !d. Although DPD indicated that it 

would be willing to consider "additional information" on this issue, DPD 

then articulated a new evidentiary requirement. !d. For Total Outdoor to 

go ahead with the Sign, DPD would require that any "written 

documentation of what the building owner intended in its practice of 

leasing out the rooftop structure . .. should either come from parties other 

than the owner, who have no financial interest in the property or be in the 

form of historic documents that show how the sign was intended to be 

used." R 00303 (emphasis added). DPD cited no legal authority 

warranting this stringent requirement, nor did DPD explain why the 

property owner could not speak to its own intent. 
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3. Total Outdoor Provides Evidence Showing That None 
of the Vested Rights Associated With the Sign Had Been 
Abandoned. 

Since 1968, the Centennial Building has been owned by the 

Corporation of the Catholic Archdiocese of Seattle ("the Archdiocese"). 

R 00587. In response to DPD's February 3, 2012, determination that the 

Archdiocese had abandoned its vested rights in the Sign, the Archdiocese 

sent DPD a letter stating that it had "conducted a thorough review of our 

records [and found] no indication in them that the Archdiocese intended to 

limit its ability to use the sign for advertising." Id. Nor did the 

Archdiocese "authorize any third party to take this action on its behalf." 

!d. The Archdiocese explained that it had not abandoned any of the vested 

rights associated with the Sign, adding that "there is no other party who is 

in a better position to know about the Archdiocese's intent than the 

Archdiocese itself." !d. 

DPD refused to consider the Archdiocese's letter, insisting that 

evidence about the property owner's intent 30 years ago could not come 

from the property owner itself. R 00303. Instead, DPD said that it would 

require evidence from a disinterested party with no financial stake in the 

Sign and with direct knowledge about the Archdiocese's intentions thirty 

years ago when its lessee was awarded a permit to illuminate the Cameras 

West copy. Id. 
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In response, Total Outdoor presented a declaration from former 

Seattle Mayor Paul Schell. R 00648. In 1981, before he was mayor, 

Mr. Schell managed the Centennial Building. !d. But by 2012, Mayor 

Schell no longer had any financial stake in the building or the Sign. In his 

declaration, Mr. Schell explained that when the "sign copy was changed to 

advertise Cameras West in 1981 . . . [ the lessee] did not intend to abandon 

or forego any rights to the use as an off-premise sign." !d. 

4. DPD Concedes That Sign Can Feature Off-Premises 
Advertising, But Continues to Insist That the Sign 
Structure and Copy Are Too Big. 

On October 26,2012, DPD issued its "Proposed Decisions" 

concerning the Sign. First, DPD conceded that the Sign was a valid 

nonconforming, off-premises sign, and that the right to off-premises use 

had not been abandoned. R 00656. In reaching this conclusion, DPD did 

not cite the Archdiocese's letter, but instead focused entirely on former 

Mayor Schell's declaration as a representative of the former lessee. Id. 

DPD pointed out that Mr. Schell's statement "appears to be from an 

individual who once had an ownership interest in the property but has not 

had any interest for many years, and this statement indicates intent to 

maintain the subject roof sign as an off-premises sign." !d. 

But even after conceding that the 1981 lighting permit did not 

evidence intent to abandon the right to off-premises use, DPD continued to 
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insist that the 1981 lighting pennit did establish an intent to abandon 

certain vested rights associated with size. Specifically, DPD reasoned that 

the hand-drawn sketch for the 1981 lighting pennit depicting the proposed 

Cameras West copy "establish[ ed] the current approved dimensions of 

both the sign support structure and the sign face size," R 00658-even 

though that sketch was not a construction plan for the structure, which was 

pre-existing, and did not show the Sign's base, see R 00024. In its 

Proposed Decisions, DPD did not explain how or why a hand-drawn 

sketch accompanying a pennit for electrical work should detennine the 

correct and legally allowed dimensions of the pre-existing sign structure. 

But relying on this sketch, DPD concluded that what it called the "sign 

face" was now limited to the size ofthe Cameras West copy. R 00657. It 

therefore detennined that the Apple copy represents an invalid expansion 

of a nonconfonning structure because the Apple copy is larger than the 

Cameras West copy. R 00657-59. 

In addition to pegging the copy's maximum size to the size of the 

Cameras West copy, DPD detennined that the Sign's structure is limited 

to 30 feet in height by 54.5 feet wide (ignoring the 4.5 foot base), and that 

the sign face is limited to a total area of 440.5 square feet-relying once 

again on the 1981 lighting pennit and its hand-drawn sketch. R 00657. 

DPD's detennination that the height is limited to 30 feet in height from the 
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rooftop-rather than 30 feet in height from the top of the 4.5 foot high 

base-was based on the hand-drawn sketch, which does not depict the 

preexisting base at all. 

DPD also concluded that Total Outdoor's repair work-which 

replaced like-for-like and piece-for-piece corroded parts of the Sign for 

safety and stability-had created a "new and different structure" that was 

bigger than before, thereby increasing the Sign's nonconformity. 

R 00659. DPD explained that its conclusion was based solely "on two site 

inspections on January 31, 2012 and February 1, 2012, by DPD Sign 

Inspector Bob Hoyos," which did not include a visit to the roof to inspect 

the Sign. !d. DPD did not rely on any measurements of the replacement 

metal pieces, or any direct comparisons between the new pieces and the 

90-year-old corroded pieces that had been replaced and were available for 

inspection. In fact, a later internal City report explained that DPD's 

conclusion that the Sign was now larger was based on the "shop drawing" 

dimensions-that is, the hand-drawn sketch of the Cameras West copy

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