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

altered, except in conformity with the regulations specified 
in this title for the zone and overlay district, if any, in 
which it is or will be located. [Emphasis added.] 

In addition, under the Seattle Building Code, provides that a 

nonconforming sign "shall have no additions or structural or electrical 

alterations thereto except for minor additions or alteration which the 

Building Official has determined are replaced.,,86 

3. Total Outdoor may not expand a 30-year-old, 
nonconforming structure. 

Under LUP A, where a statute is susceptible to more than one 

reasonable meaning, courts should defer to the City's interpretation of its 

Code where the Department has authority and expertise.87 

Here, DPD properly concluded that SMC 23.42.106 and 23.42.112 

applied because the sign was both a nonconforming use and 

nonconforming structure.88 Mr. Mills also determined Section 

23.40.002.B was relevant and concluded "when read together with the 

regulations of nonconforming uses and structures in Chapter 23.42, 

essentially says that, once a use or structure is established or constructed 

in conformity to the regulations of the Land Use Code, it cannot be 

86 Section 3107.8 of the Seattle Building Code. 

87 City a/Federal Way v. Town & Country Real Estate. LLC, et al., 161 Wn. App. 17, 
252 P.3d 382 (2011); Faben Point Neighbors v. City a/Mercer Island, 102 Wn. App. 
775, 778, 11 P.3d 322 (2000). 
88 DR 007911CP 865. 
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changed in ways that are not conforming to the applicable regulations.,,89 

DPD concluded "these regulations provide a process for recognizing an 

existing use or structure as nonconforming and setting parameters for 

repair and replacement. ,,90 

DPD properly concluded that any repair or replacement of the 

nonconforming structure cannot be different or larger than that approved 

by the 1981 permit for the Cameras West and EMC sign faces. 91 Thus, 

even if the sign may have been 26X60 sign face at the time the sign 

became nonconforming, subsequent changes sought by permit resulted in 

a gradual reduction in the size of the sign face to that permitted in 19-

440.5 square feet- that was constructed and remained for 30 years. DPD 

concluded that "to reason otherwise would be to remove any sense of 

rational structure from the zoning regulations.,,92 As noted by DPD in Mr. 

Mills Dec. 14,2012 decision:93 

For example, a building might be built under zoning that 
allowed a 60-foot height limit, with plans approving that 
height. If the applicable zoning then changed to a 40-foot 
height limit, and a permit was issued to remodel and alter 
the 60-foot building to remove two stories from that 
building, it would not be seriously argued that those two 
stories were "previously approved" and could therefore be 
restored any time the building owner chose to do so. The 

89 DR 007911CP 865. 
90Id. 
91 The City's (Mills) Dec.14, 2012 letter, DR 0079I1CP 865. 
921d. at DR 00793/CP 867 . 
93 Id. at DR 00793/CP 867. 
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Centennial Building sign is no different. It has been 
reduced in area by permit from what was once allowed 
under prior zoning, and its current size is dictated by the 
most recent permit or whatever the current Land Use Code 
regulations would allow on the property. 

First, the record is clear that on the effective date of the Sign 

Ordinance that made rooftop signs nonconforming (October 24, 197594), it 

was the Alaska Airlines sign, not Burlington Northern Sign, which was 

installed. In fact, in May 1975, a Sign Permit was issued95 to change the 

sign from Burlington Northern to Alaska Airlines and to reduce the height 

of the sign to make it more conforming.96 

a) The area of the new sign face is larger. 

The City properly determined the nonconforming structure was 

impermissibly expanded in 2012 because the sign face tripled in size from 

that installed under the most recent (1981) permit. The record is clear that 

the permittee made the sign smaller and nonconforming over time as 

documented in the permit history, culminating in the most conforming 

permit, that from 1981, which authorized 440 square foot sign face, under 

94 Ordinance No. 104971, DR 00125-00136/CP 198-209, effective date language of 
ordinance at DR 00136/CP 209. 
95 No. 1970 which states "Alteration to Exist. Sign to make it conforming to Exist. Sign 
Code & New Copy per plan." 
96 DR 00012-000 13/CP 85-86. Total Outdoor incorrectly and repeatedly argues that the 
historic photographs and permits demonstrate that the sign structure was 55 feet high 
when it became nonconforming in October 24, 1975 at Total Outdoor's opening brief, p. 
5, and again on page 23 where it states that when the sign became nonconforming, it was 
displaying the Burlington Northern Railroad Corp which measured 55 feet high by 68.5 
feet wide, where it relies on the 1941 permit, which was superseded by the 1975 permits. 
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SMC 23.42.112.A and 23.40.002.B. In light ofthese Code provisions, 

Total Outdoor cannot now reach back to an older, less conforming permit 

to say that it is entitled to a 1200 sq. foot sign face. 

Furthermore, the 1981 sign permit was not simply a lighting permit 

with a "change in copy" as argued by Total Outdoor. The record makes 

clear that the neon "Alaska Airlines" sign was removed and new 5 foot tall 

neon, channelume, internally illuminated letters, that ran 48 feet long and 

cost $20,000, were installed on the structure.97 Once this occurred, under 

SMC 23.40.002.B, the sign face had been reduced in size again to be even 

more conforming that previously. The nonconformity cannot now expand 

30+ years later, based on the argument Total Outdoor has some right to a 

larger sign face and structure that existed when the sign became 

nonconforming, even after numerous permits by the predecessor-in

interest seeking and obtaining permits for a smaller, more conforming sign 

and structure. If Total Outdoor's argument was carried out to its logical 

end, any nonconformity that existed at some point in the past could be 

resurrected and even expanded even if subsequent permits and 

construction resulted in a structure that over time became more 

conforming. 

97 Permit No. 07949, DR 00024-00028/CP 97-101. 
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b) The new sign structure is taller. 

Substantial evidence in the record shows the 2012 modifications 

increased the size of the sign structure. When determining if substantial 

evidence exists under LUP A, the court only considers whether there is 

substantial evidence supporting a decision and cannot engage in a 

balancing between evidence supporting or not supporting the decision.98 

"Substantial evidence entails a relatively low threshold ofproof.,,99 The 

Court must "view the evidence and any reasonable inferences in the light 

most favorable to the party that prevailed in the highest forum exercising 

fact finding authority."IOO 

As a starting point, the record indicates the Sign structure was 

reduced in height to 30 feet as required by Ordinance 1 02929 (that became 

effective on Feb. 7, 1974101 ) before October 24, 1975, the date when the 

rooftop sign became a nonconforming structure. This reduction from 55 

to 30 feet is also reflected in the December 18, 1975 letter I 02 from the 

98 Phoenix Development, Inc. v. City o/Woodinville, 256 P.3d 1150, 1156,256 P.3d 1150 
(2011). (The court's role is not to detennine whether evidence in the record supports one 
result or another). 
99 Sunderland Family Treatment Servs. v. City 0/ Pasco, 127 Wn.2d 782, 801 n.10, 903 
P.2d 986 (1995). Although this case was decided under pre-LUPA law, the Court noted 
that this standard of review remained unchanged under LUPA. 
100 Isla Verde Intern. Holdings, Inc. v. City o/Camas, 99 Wn. App. 127, 134,950 P.2d 
429 (1999) (quoting Schofield v. Spokane County, 96 Wn. App. 581, 586, 980 P.2d 
277(1999)). 
101 Ordinance 102929, DR 00081-00116fCP 154-189, in particular § 15 (b) "Roof signs", 
"height" at DR 0097 fCP 170. 
102 Seattle Department of Buildings, a predecessor of DPD, Dec. 18, 1975 letter, DR 
00020fCP 93. 
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City l03 which states "Under a recent sign permit the above noted sign was 

lowered in height to bring it into conformance with the height requirement 

of the new Comprehensive Sign Ordinance #102929." In a letter written 

in December 1975, a citizen states the Sign was recently changed to 

advertise Alaska Airlines "replacing the non-moving sign that had 

advertised Burlington Northem." 1 04 

Moreover, read in conjunction with the 1981 permit105 to "erect 

and maintain" new sign on the "existing structure" 1 06 and the 

corresponding plans, both clearly showing the existing structure is 30 feet 

in height from the roofiop.l07 The only plans the City has on record for 

the Sign is the 1981 plans. 108 As discussed above, the 1981 permit is the 

most recent and the most conforming of the permits. 

The 1981 permit is a "Sign PermiC 109 to "erect and maintain" a 

single faced "neon illuminated channelume letters" on existing structure 1 10 

103 From the Department of Construction and Land Use (DCLU), a predecessor to DPD. 
104 DR 00562/CP 636. 
105 1981 permit to Change use to on-premise sign and install sign face that was 440 
square feet, DR 00024/CP 97, and plans at DR 00027-00028/CP 100-1O\. 
106 DR 00024/CP 97. 
107 DR 00027-00028/CP 100-1O\. 
108 The City did not retain plans for most types of development until the 1970s or early 
1980s. 
109 Top of the permit says "Sign Permit." 
110 DR 00024/CP 97 indicates that the permit is a "Sign Permit" (at top) and includes 
language that it is for an "on premise use." See also DR 00024/CP 97, letter from sign 
applicant. 
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as well as a permit to change the use of the sign III from an off-premise 

advertising sign to an "on-premise sign.,,112 The work involved 

installation of 5 foot tall internally-illuminated letters and the work was 

valued at $20,000 and weighed 1000 pounds. I 13 

The 1981 permit specifically shows measurement of the 30-foot 

maximum sign frame height taken from the roofline and even shows this 

measurement from below the line of the raised roof area near the western 

portion of the roof. 114 A city inspector reviewed the plans, conducted a site 

visit and issued a final approval for the Sign. I IS 

Heath Northwest, applicant for Cameras West, indicated on the 

1981 permit the new Cameras West sign would be attached to the existing 

sign frame- which was shown to be 30 feet high from the roofline. This 

permit was inspected by the City Sign Code Inspector and approved. 

Thus, any right that a property owner may have had to a sign structure that 

exceeded the height standard at one point in time is gone. In sum, the 

record is replete with evidence establishing the Sign structure was 30 feet 

in total height as measured from the roofline. 

III See DR 00024/CP 97) which states, in a different hand, "on Premise Sign" and see DR 
00023/CP 96) 
112 DR 00023/CP 97 (letter from applicant) and 00024/CP 98 (permit face). 
113 It should be DR 00026/CP 99, as it is immediately after DR 00025/CP 98. 
114 Plans approved with Permit No. 07949, 1981, DR 00027/CP 100 (the rootline is 
identified on the plans and the height of the sign structure is measured from the rootline 
to the top of the sign and the height is noted at 30'-0"). 
115 DR 00025/CP 98. The Sign was "finaled" on 1-22-82 as indicated by the date and 
notation of the inspector next to the terms "Final O.K." 
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Further, there is substantial evidence in the record the 2012 

modifications increased the size of the sign structure to at least 34 feet in 

height. When Mr. Hoyos met with Total Outdoor representatives at the 

site in November 2012,116 he measured the height of the sign structure to 

be 34' from the roofline of the Centennial Building to the top of the Sign. 

Total Outdoor does not dispute this fact. 

Therefore, the existing sign structure, measured at least 34 feet by 

Mr. Hoyos, is over height and must be lowered. DPD properly concluded 

that to allow the structure to remain at its current height would be to allow 

an expansion of a non-conforming sign structure. 

4. Total Outdoor's arguments lack merit. 

a) Because Total Outdoor cannot convert 
this into a dispute over a nonconforming 
use, case law about nonconforming use is 
inapplicable. 

Total Outdoor spends much time arguing the City cannot meet the 

two-part common law test for abandonment of a nonconforming use. 117 

The City does not dispute the nonconforming rooftop advertising sign use 

nor does the City claim that use was abandoned. I IS Although the City 

116 Sign Site Inspection Report with photographs, November 27, 2012, DR 00723-00735/ 
CP 797-809. 
117 Total Outdoor's opening brief, p. 23-31. 
118 Dec. 14, 2012 Mills letter, Mills correction notice and Alford correction notice, DR 
00788-00798/CP 862-872 and DR 00799-00811 /CP 873-885. 
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initially thought the nonconforming use may have been abandoned, I 19 

after Total Outdoor submitted permit applications, 120 provided business 

records,121 and signed statements,122 DPD concluded the off-premise 

advertising use was established and not abandoned. 123 

Total Outdoor's recitation of the case law addressing abandonment 

of a nonconforming use is inapplicable and misleading. 124 All of the cases 

cited by Total Outdoor, including Rosema v. City o/Seattle, involve 

abandonment or discontinuance of a nonconforming use and the 

associated two-prong common law test for making that determination. 125 

Although Total Outdoor would like to import this two-prong test to apply 

to structures that are nonconforming to development standards, no case 

cited by Total Outdoor stands for that proposition. 

Total Outdoor argues that, like in Rosema where the lower 

dwelling unit continued to be "designed or arranged" as a separate unit, so 

too did the Centennial Building rooftop sign retain the ability to 

119 See the City's (Bill Mills) Feb. 3,2012 letter, DR 00300-00304/CP 373-377, and the 
City's (Bob Laird) May 2, 2012 letter, DR 00411-00413/CP 485-487. 
120 Application to Establish Use for the Record, DR 00599-00605/CP 673-679. 
121 Long term leases, DR 00631-00647/CP 705-721. 
J22 Declaration of Paul Schell, DR 00648. 
123 The City's October 26, 2012 proposed decision, DR 00656-00660/CP 730-734. 
124 Total Outdoor's opening brief, pgs. 23-31. 
125 See e.g., Rosema v. City o/Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 269 P.3d 393 (2011) which 
provides that to prove abandonment or discontinuance, the party must show: (I) an intent 
to abandon; and (2) an overt act or failure to act that implies that the owner ceased to 
claim or retain any interest in the right to the nonconforming use test. 
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"accommodate larger copy.,,126 This analogy misses the mark. Unlike in 

Rosema where the owner left a second kitchen for 18 years, here, the 

permittee reduced the sign face by permit. Any attempt to install larger 

copy would be an expansion of a nonconforming structure. Van Sant v. 

City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 641, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993) and City of 

University Place v. McGuire, 144 Wn.2d 640, 30 P.3d 453 (2001), cited 

by Total Outdoor,127 are similarly irrelevant because those cases involve 

abandonment of a nonconforming use. The two-prong abandonment of a 

nonconforming use test is inapplicable since the nonconforming rooftop 

advertising sign can continue. The two-prong common law test has not 

been extended to nonconforming structures. 

From a practical perspective, the two-prong abandonment test 

should not be extended to nonconforming structures for two public policy 

reasons: first, the "intent" prong of the abandonment test for 

nonconforming uses is not needed in cases where a structure is 

nonconforming to a particular development standards. In the latter case, 

one could simply look at a structure to determine if it was a 

nonconforming structure. 

If, for example, a home was built before the 10 foot side-yard 

setback was required, it would simply require a look at the structure on the 

126 Total Outdoor's brief, p. 28. 
127 Total Outdoor's opening brief, pgs. 24-25. 
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lot, the permit and the development standard to determine whether it was 

nonconforming to the side-yard setback standard. Unlike a "use" where it 

may be difficult to tell if a particular use (say as an office) was abandoned 

and another use made in its place (say as a retail consignment store). 

Second, City Council adopts and amends new development 

standards all of the time. If the two-prong test applies, the number of 

nonconforming structures would be significant. Recognizing, keeping 

track and evaluating nonconforming structures would be a major 

administrative task for DPD with very limited benefit for property owners. 

b) Structures that predate the 1981 
structure are irrelevant. 

Total Outdoor's continued attempt to create some "rights" for the 

structure that existed in October 1975,128 at the time the sign became a 

nonconforming structure, is without merit because subsequent voluntary 

changes were requested by the permittee or its agent, permitted by the City 

and made to the Sign that brought the structure and sign face closer to 

conformity. Restated, because rooftop signs were prohibited and the goal 

that these signs become more conforming to current code, the reduction to 

the sign face and structure modified what size and scale of the

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